### Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

10-30-2015

## Eagle Equity Fund, LLC v. Titleone Corp. Appellant's Brief Dckt. 42850

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In November 2006, Eagle Equity Fund, LLC ("EEF") loaned Galiano LLC ("Galiano")
\$725,500.00 for the acquisition and development of a parcel of land in Kuna, Idaho, known as the
Galiano subdivision. (R. Vol. 1, p. 2565). To secure the property, Galiano executed and recorded
a Deed of Trust ("EEF Deed of Trust") naming Alliance Title ("Alliance") as trustee. (R. Vol. 1,
p. 2589; Ex. C at 2626). Also in 2006, Galiano obtained from RBC a \$6 million secured
financing package ("RBC Deed of Trust") for the development of the property. (R. Vol. 1, p.
2660 Ex. D). EEF executed and recorded a subordination agreement putting them in second
position behind the RBC Deed of Trust. (R. Vol. 1, p. 2565).

The Galiano subdivision was a development project to be sold parcel by parcel. (R. Vol. 1, p. 2589). The projected revenue for the development was \$6.2 million. (R. Vol. 1, p. 980 ¶ 20); (R. Vol. 1, p. 2355 ¶ 7). The proceeds from the parcel sales were to be used first to pay off the RBC debt and then to pay the EEF debt. (R. Vol. 1, p. 2589). The payment schedule and cost projections are contained in the Master Credit Agreement signed by Edward Mason, manager of Galiano, LLC. (R. Vol. 1, p. 2597 Ex B).

Alliance was the closing agent for this entire transaction and was responsible for the safekeeping of the original documentation. (R. Vol. 1, p. 1154 ¶ 3). After closing the transaction, EEF never received the original copy of the EEF Deed of Trust. (R. Vol. 1, p. 1154 ¶ 7; R. Vol. 1, p. 1102, 1. 19). In 2008 and 2009, EEF authorized partial releases to be recorded for certain lots in the subdivision. (R. Vol. 1, p. 2565 ¶ 4, Ex. B). However, EEF never received full payment on its loan and never represented to anyone that the loan was paid-in-full. (R. Vol. 1, p. 2566 ¶ 7).

On February 11, 2010, TitleOne Corporation ("TitleOne") inexplicably recorded a full reconveyance of the EEF Deed of Trust. (R. Vol. 1, p. 2415 ¶ 4, Ex. A). In this document, TitleOne claimed to be the Trustee of record. *Id.* This reconveyance was signed by TitleOne's Heidi Emery in the performance of her job duties at TitleOne. (R. Vol. 1, p. 2415, Ex. F pg. 14). The reconveyance clearly references the EEF Deed of Trust, instrument number 106181859, executed on November 17, 2006, by Galiano with EEF as the beneficiary. (R. Vol. 1, p. 2415 ¶ 4, Ex. A). On this reconveyance document, TitleOne falsely states that it received "satisfactory

evidence" of payment-in-full of the underlying obligation. *Id.* Yet, TitleOne admits that they had no evidence of payment-in-full of the obligation secured by the EEF Deed of Trust.<sup>1</sup> (R. Vol. 1, p. 2415 Ex. F pg. 16-18). EEF never executed any document stating that the obligation under the deed of trust was satisfied. (R. Vol. 1, p. 1155 ¶ 13). EEF never executed any document releasing the Deed of Trust. *Id.* At this time in February 2010, approximately \$4.7 million had already been spent on the acquisition and improvement of the property. (R. Vol. 1, p. 2589 ¶¶ 4 and 9, Ex. B).

PCD, the company that TitleOne hired to prepare the reconveyance document, likely received a copy of the original EEF Deed of Trust from TitleOne, and that triggered the creation of the document. (R. Vol. 1, p. 2415, Ex. F pg. 16-18). The original of the Deed of Trust triggered a full reconveyance of the EEF Deed of Trust by PCD. (R. Vol. 1, p. 2494). Alliance however, was unable to explain how the original Deed of Trust got into the hands of TitleOne, and hence, PCD.

Vicki White, vice president of TitleOne, stated in deposition that an error such as a wrongful reconveyance would be elevated to legal counsel within TitleOne. (R. Vol. 1, p. 2415 Ex. E pg. 38). Cameron McFadden, legal counsel for TitleOne, speaking on behalf of TitleOne in a 30(b)(6) deposition, stated that there were times where a beneficiary would need to be contacted, but TitleOne has never bothered to contact any beneficiaries. (R. Vol. 1, p. 2415 Ex. F pg. 12, 1, 7-17). Daniel Thompson, manager of EEF, never received any communication from TitleOne informing him of the wrongful reconveyance. (R. Vol. 1, p. 2566 ¶ 9). In short, despite the fact that TitleOne possessed all of the evidence of a wrongful recording, TitleOne chose to ignore the problem and not inform the interested party, EEF. In filing this false reconveyance, TitleOne removed EEF from the chain of title and created the potential for a later sale by Galiano to a third party (DAS) that would ultimately strip EEF of its security interest.

Subsequent to TitleOne's wrongful full reconveyance, EEF continued to execute additional partial reconveyances at the request of Galiano as lots were sold. This lead EEF to

- 2 -

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> TitleOne points to the fact that PCD relied on the submission of the original Deed of Trust, but TitleOne themselves had no actual evidence of payment-in-full.

25

26

27

28

believe that there were no problems with the existing title. (R. Vol. 1, p. 2566 § 6, Ex. D). The EEF Deed of Trust, the first partial reconveyances, the full reconveyance recorded by TitleOne, and the subsequent partial reconveyances by EEF all make up the public records that were available to the subsequent titleholders or potential titleholders. (R. Vol. 1, p. 2566 ¶ 5-6, Ex. B-C).

DAS, LLC ("DAS") purchased the properties from Galiano in a short sale in 2012. EEF was not provided with notice of the sale. (R. Vol. 1, p. 2566 ¶ 8, Ex. A; R. Vol. 1, p. 1244 ¶ 13). Through a series of lot transactions with DAS that began in 2012, Corey Barton Homes, Inc. ("CBH") gained title to much of the property that made up the Galiano subdivision. (R. Vol. 1, p. 2417 ¶ 14, Ex. J). DAS had signed contracts to transfer the property to CBH at a profit of over \$250,000. (R. Vol. 1, p. 2415 ¶¶ 12-14, Ex. H-J). EEF was given no opportunity to bid on the property at the short sale or capture any of the profit immediately realized by DAS.

DAS claims it had no knowledge of the full reconveyance of the EEF Deed of Trust at the time it acquired the property even though it was recorded and part of the public record. (R. Vol. 1, p. 1244 ¶ 16; R. Vol. 1, p. 2415 Ex. B and C). CBH invoked the shelter rule and claimed that it did not have any notice of EEF's claim or interest in the property when it signed the purchase agreements or when it acquired the properties, but the public records give them inquiry notice. (R. Vol. 1, p. 2765 ¶ 10; R. Vol. 1, p. 2415 Ex. B and C). In short, both CBH and DAS wish to claim bona fide purchaser status, but they were on inquiry notice of EEF's claim at those times.

In early March of 2013, Daniel Thompson, manager of EEF, discovered the recording of the wrongful reconveyance. (R. Vol. 1, p. 862 \( \) 6). He immediately took steps to protect his interest, and EEF ultimately filed suit on June 5, 2013, stating claims for, inter alia, negligence and tortious interference with prospective economic advantage. (R. Vol. 1, p. 862 ¶ 7). TitleOne filed a Motion to Dismiss and the District Court dismissed the common law negligence claim. (R. Vol. 1, p. 98; R. Vol. 1, p. 526). EEF amended its complaint to include a claim against TitleOne for violation of Idaho Code § 45-1205. (R. Vol. 1, p. 209). The District Court held that EEF's claim under §45-1205 was barred by the statute of limitations but allowed the claim to proceed should proof of equitable estoppel be shown. The District Court ultimately dismissed all of the - 3 -

claims against TitleOne on summary judgment on September 19, 2014, holding that EEF did not suffer any damage. (R. Vol. 1, p. 3052). The District Court summarized the undisputed facts upon which it relied in making its rulings as follows:

In 2006, Edward I. Mason ("Mason"), as the managing member of Galiano, LLC ("Galiano"), approached Defendant RBC Centura Bank ("RBC") and Plaintiff EEF, to obtain financing to develop a 29.63 acre parcel of real property in Kuna, Idaho, commonly referred to as Galiano Subdivision (the "Property" or the "Subdivision"). The Property was ultimately platted into sixty (60) residential lots.

On November 17, 2006, Mason, on behalf of Galiano, executed that certain Deed of Trust, Security Agreement and Fixture Filing and Assignment of Leases and Rents in favor of RBC, as beneficiary, which was recorded in the real property records of Ada County, Idaho on November 17, 2006, as Instrument No. 106181858 (the "RBC Deed of Trust"). Pursuant to its terms, the RBC Deed of Trust secured two promissory notes payable to RBC with an aggregate principal balance of \$6,063,300.00: (1) an acquisition and development note in the principal sum of \$3,413,300.00 (the "A&D Note"); and (2) a letter of credit line note in the principal sum of \$2,650,000.00 (the "LOC Note") (the A&D Note and the LOC Note, collectively, the "RBC Loan"). Defendant Alliance Title & Escrow Corp. ("Alliance Title") was the original trustee under the RBC Deed of Trust.

Contemporaneous with the execution of the RBC Deed of Trust, Mason, on behalf of Galiano, executed the Deed of Trust and Security Agreement in favor of Plaintiff EEF, as beneficiary, which was recorded in the real property records of Ada County, Idaho, on November 17, 2006, as Instrument No. 106181859 (the "EEF Deed of Trust"). The EEF Deed of Trust secured a promissory note payable to EEF with a principal balance of \$725,500.00 (the "EEF Note" or the "EEF Loan"). Defendant Alliance Title was also the original trustee under the EEF Deed of Trust. However, Defendant Fidelity National Title Company ("Fidelity") was substituted in as trustee of the EEF Deed of Trust on May 7, 2011. Pursuant to the Subordination Agreement executed by RBC, Galiano, and EEF, the EEF Loan and Deed of Trust were junior to the RBC Loan and RBC Deed of Trust.

On or about January 25, 2010, TitleOne received a document entitled "Reconveyance of Deed of Trust" from its third-party contractor/service provider, Post-Closing Department, Inc. ("PCD"). In 2009, TitleOne had entered into a service agreement with PCD, under which PCD agreed to provide services to facilitate the mortgage/deed of trust reconveyance process. Pursuant to that service agreement, PCD agreed to prepare all documents and reports and provide all other services necessary to effect reconveyances in compliance with the Idaho statutory reconveyance requirements, including providing all notices thereunder, tracking the reconveyance process, and recording the reconveyances. At the time TitleOne received the Reconveyance of Deed of Trust from PCD for the Property, TitleOne signed the Reconveyance and returned it to PCD. PCD, in tum, caused the Reconveyance to be recorded in the real property records of Ada County, Idaho, on February 11, 2010, as Instrument No. 110012858 (the "Reconveyance"), and indeed the recorder stamp reflects recording at the request of "PCD."

According to EEF, Heidi Emery of TitleOne is the individual who signed the reconveyance. EEF never received any communication concerning the recoveyance of the EEF Deed of Trust. EEF never received satisfaction of the

underlying debt. EEF never communicated that the underlying debt was satisfied. EEF did not become aware of TitleOne's recoveyance until late February 2013.

Beginning in 2011, Galiano was unable to maintain mortgage payments to Defendant RBC. On or about March 2011, Mason and Galiano told EEF that they had not made payments and that Defendant RBC would likely take action on the Property. On May 17, 2012, Galiano executed a General Warranty Deed conveying the balance of the lots it owned in the Subdivision to DAS Investments, LLC ("DAS"). On November 1, 2012, Defendant RBC, as plaintiff, and Galiano, Ted Mason Signature Homes, Inc., and Edward and Sherry Mason, entered into a Stipulated Judgment, agreeing to a judgment in favor of RBC and against those defendants in the principal amount of \$2,601,541.37, plus costs, fees, and interest as more specifically set forth therein.

EEF commenced this action against defendants Alliance Title, TitleOne, Fidelity, RBC, and Chicago Title on June 5, 2013. EEF filed its First Amended Complaint against the originally named Defendants and several other additional Defendants on December 9, 2013.

(R. Vol. 1, pg. 1056-8).

Shortly after the District Court granted summary judgment in favor of TitleOne, CBH moved for summary judgment, and EEF filed a *Motion to Amend* to include a claim for quiet title. (R. Vol. 1, p. 2759; R. Vol. 1, p. 2742). The District Court denied EEF's *Motion to Amend* while granting CBH's motion for summary judgment. (R. Vol. 1, p. 3120).

#### ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- I. Under Idaho statutory law, which requires proof of damage to maintain a claim under I.C. 
  § 45-1205, did the District Court err in holding that EEF's loss of its right to participate in the short sale to protect its security interest was insufficient to constitute "damages"?
- II. Under Idaho common law, which requires proof of damage to maintain a claim for Tortious Interference with Prospective Economic Advantage, did the District Court err in holding that the Appellant's loss of its right to participate in the short sale to protect its security interest was insufficient to constitute "damages"?
- III. Under Idaho Statutory Law, which puts a 20-year statute of limitations on property title actions and a 4-year limitation on non-injury torts, did the District Court err by dismissing EEF's I.C. § 45-1205 claim against TitleOne by applying a 3-year limit?

- IV. Under Idaho law, which allows recovery for monetary loss for negligent rendition of services, did the District Court err by dismissing EEF's common law negligence claim against TitleOne pursuant to the Economic Loss Doctrine?
- Under the Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure, which allow for liberal grants of leave to V. amend the pleadings, did the District Court abuse its discretion by denying EEF's request to add a meritorious cause of action for quiet title?

#### **ARGUMENT**

EEF was the beneficiary of a Deed of Trust securing its interest in the real property known as the Galiano Subdivision in Kuna, ID. Through no fault of its own, EEF was stripped of that interest. EEF made several claims against TitleOne under a variety of theories including Violation of I.C. § 45-1205, Common Law Negligence, and Tortious Interference with Prospective Economic Advantage ("TIPEA"). TitleOne should be held to account for its wrongful reconveyance of EEF's Deed of Trust and resulting damage.

In dismissing EEF's claims for Violation of I.C. § 45-1205 and TIPEA against TitleOne, the District Court held that EEF suffered no damage as a result of TitleOne's wrongful reconveyance of EEF's Deed of Trust. The District Court erred in concluding that EEF suffered no damage because (1) EEF was denied its right to participate in the short sale to protect its security interest; (2) the District Court ignored the fact that the subsequent sale by DAS to CBH resulted in an immediate turnaround profit of \$270,000 to DAS and (3) the District Court failed to draw a reasonable inference of market value in favor of EEF, instead drawing it in favor of TitleOne.

The District Court further held that EEF's cause of action for Violation of I.C. § 45-1205 against TitleOne was barred by the applicable statute of limitations. In reaching this conclusion, the District Court determined that the date of accrual of the claim was the date that TitleOne wrongfully reconveyed EEF's Deed of Trust. The District Court erred in holding the applicable statute of limitation to be 3 years because (1) EEF's cause of action had not yet accrued in February of 2010 and (2) the applicable statute should actually be the more appropriate 4-year - 6 -

"catch all" limit or the titleholder's 20-year statute.

EEF's claim for common law negligence against TitleOne was dismissed because the District Court held that damages were barred under the economic loss doctrine. The District Court erred by applying the economic loss doctrine to damages that were a direct result of the negligent services provided by TitleOne.

EEF made a *Motion to Amend* its complaint to include a claim for quiet title against CBH. The District Court refused to allow amendment of the pleadings to include this claim because it concluded that the claim had no merit. The District Court erred in denying this motion because a claim for quiet title is meritorious and the Court abused its discretion in denying the inclusion of a meritorious claim.

#### I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court exercises de novo review of a grant of summary judgment, using the same standard as is used by the district court ruling on the motion. Stonebrook Const., LLC v. Chase Home Fin., LLC, 152 Idaho 927, 929, 277 P.3d 374, 376 (2012). Summary judgment is proper "if the pleadings, depositions, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." Teurlings v. Larson, 156 Idaho 65, 69, 320 P.3d 1224, 1228 (2014) (citation omitted) (quoting Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure (I.R.C.P.) 56(c)). The Court construes all disputed facts in favor of the non-moving party, "and all reasonable inferences that can be drawn from the record are to be drawn in favor of the non-moving party." Fuller v. Callister, 150 Idaho 848, 851, 252 P.3d 1266, 1269 (2011) (quoting Castorena v. Gen. Elec., 149 Idaho 609, 613, 238 P.3d 209, 213 (2010)). "If the evidence reveals no disputed issues of material fact, then only a question of law remains, over which this Court exercises free review."

The trial court's decision to deny a motion to amend a pleading is discretionary. Trimble v. Engelking, 130 Idaho 300, 303, 939 P.2d 1379, 1382 (1997) (citing Jones v. Watson, 98 Idaho 606, 610, 570 P.2d 284, 288 (1977.)) This Court uses a three factor test to determine whether the trial court abused its discretion. The inquiry is: (1) whether the trial court correctly perceived the APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

11 12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

10

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

issue as discretionary; (2) whether the trial court acted within the outer boundaries of its discretion and consistently with the legal standards applicable to the specific choices available to it; and (3) whether the trial court reached its decision by an exercise of reason. *Ramos v. Dixon*, 144 Idaho 32, 35, 156 P.3d 533, 536 (2007).

# II. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING EEF'S CAUSE OF ACTION AGAINST TITLEONE FOR VIOLATION OF I.C. §45-1205 ON THE BASIS THAT APPELLANT SUFFERED NO DAMAGES

The District Court erred when it granted summary judgment to TitleOne on EEF's cause of action under I.C. \$45-1205. I.C. \$45-1205 creates liability for damages suffered upon the negligent reconveyance of a trust deed by a title agent or insurer. The District Court concluded that EEF did not present sufficient evidence that it suffered damages as a result of TitleOne's negligent reconveyance of EEF's deed of trust. (R. Vol. 1, p. 3061.) This reasoning is flawed based on the fact that EEF was in fact damaged when it was deprived of any notice to participate in the short sale of the property and protect its security interest. Evidence in the record further supports that EEF suffered damage by loss of potential profit when Galiano sold the property to DAS for \$860,000, who then turned around and sold the property to Corey Barton Homes for \$1.13 million, collecting a gross profit of \$270,000. Had EEF been granted its rights to participate in the short sale, it would have been allowed to purchase the deed of trust outright, and either sell it for profit (as DAS did), or wait for the market to recuperate and potentially collect the entirety of its security interest.

### A. EEF Was Damaged When Its Rights Were Stripped Through TitleOne's Violation Of I.C. § 45-1205

EEF was not afforded an opportunity to participate in the short sale of the property for which it held a lien interest. The fact that EEF was not notified of the short sale is not in dispute. (R. Vol. 1, p. 3061.) Neither is the fact that EEF was not allowed to participate in the short sale. Had EEF's Deed of Trust not been wrongfully reconveyed back to Galiano, EEF would have held a junior lien that required satisfaction in some manner in order for DAS to receive clean title to the property. Despite these facts, the District Court concluded that EEF suffered no damages. (R.

Vol. 1, p. 3061.) The basis for the Court's conclusion was that at the time of the sale, EEF's second-position deed of trust "had no discernable value." (R., Vol. 1, p. 3824.) However, the complete lack of notice and participation in the sale barred any opportunity EEF had to recoup the value of its investment or protect its security interest by purchasing the first lien at the price DAS paid...\$860,000. An investment by EEF of an additional \$860,000 to acquire the first Deed of Trust would have placed EEF in first position at a total cost of \$1.61 million on a property that had \$4.7 million already invested in it for acquisition and development. EEF would be selling lots at this time instead of CBH.

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