# UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

12-23-2015

# Eagle Equity Fund, LLC v. Titleone Corp Respondent's Brief 1 Dckt. 42850

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

Based on this Court's historic application of I.C. § 5-204 and its companion statutes to adverse possession cases, it is no surprise that when the Idaho Legislature amended I.C. § 5-204 and its companion statutes in 2006 by changing the limitations period from five years to twenty years it stated: "This amendment to existing Code extends the time required *to adversely possess real property* from five (5) years to twenty (20) years. 2006 Idaho Laws ch. 158 (S.B. 1311) (emphasis added). Based on this, it is reasonable to infer that the Legislature intends for I.C. § 5-204 to apply to adverse possession claims in precisely the same way as this Court has interpreted it for over a hundred years, as relating to adverse possession issues. For these reasons, the Court should affirm the district court's application of I.C. § I.C. § 5-218(1) limitations period to EEF's I.C. § 45-1205 claim.

# F. The District Court's Dismissal of EEF's Common Law Negligence Claim was Proper because EEF Conceded that the Claim was Barred by the Economic Loss Doctrine.

Below, TitleOne argued that EEF's common law negligence claim should be dismissed because it was barred by the economic loss doctrine. R. at 107-10. EEF conceded that TitleOne's argument may be correct but argued that despite dismissal of the common law negligence claim, EEF could still pursue a separate statutory negligence claim predicated on I.C. § 45-1205. R. at 194.<sup>13</sup> Specifically, EEF stated: "unlike common law economic loss in negligence, Idaho statutory law enables recovery for the negligent improper reconveyance of a trust deed." *Id*. On that basis, EEF amended its complaint "to include a separate claim under

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> EEF stated: "Although the Defendant TitleOne may be correct when they [sic] spent 3½ pages discussing economic loss theory, they completely ignore the statutory remedy under Idaho Code § 45-1205." R. at 194.

I.C. § 45-1205". R. at 209. Thereafter, the district court dismissed EEF's common law negligence claim because EEF conceded that the economic loss doctrine applied and did not argue that any exceptions to the economic loss doctrine applied. R. at 535.

EEF now argues that the district court erred in dismissing its common law negligence claim. Appellant's Br. at 19. First, EEF argues that this case involves the negligent rendition of services as opposed to the provision of a negligent product making the economic loss doctrine inapplicable. *Id.* at 19–21. Second, EEF argues that even if the economic loss doctrine is applicable, the "special relationship" exception to the economic loss rule applies because "a special relationship exists between title companies and any holder of a deed of trust." *Id.* at 22–23. EEF's arguments lack merit and should not even be addressed by the Court because EEF has waived them or is judicially estopped from doing so.

# i. EEF Conceded that the Economic Loss Rule Applied to Bar Its Common Law Negligence Claim and thereby Waived that Claim or is Judicially Estopped from Asserting It.

EEF knowingly and voluntarily conceded the soundness of TitleOne's argument that the economic loss doctrine barred EEF's common law negligence claim. EEF's briefing to the district court stated:

Although the Defendant TitleOne may be correct when they [sic] spent 3½ pages discussing economic loss theory, they completely ignored the statutory remedy under Idaho Code § 45-1205. Because the statute requires, among other things, negligence in a reconveyance to trigger liability for damages, the Plaintiffs' claim for negligence must remain. In other words, unlike common law economic loss in negligence, Idaho statutory law enables recovery for the negligent improper reconveyance of a trust deed.

# R. at 194 (emphasis added).<sup>14</sup>

Based on EEF's above statements, the district court dismissed EEF's common law negligence count, stating: "Plaintiffs concede the economic loss doctrine bars its negligence claim unless that claim is brought under Idaho Code § 45-1205." R. at 535. In conceding the issue below and not presenting any argument to rebut TitleOne's position that the economic loss doctrine barred EEF's common law negligence claim, EEF has waived any argument to the contrary on appeal, or alternatively is judicially estopped against pursuing it.

Waiver is the "[t]he intentional or voluntary relinquishment of a known right." *Frontier Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n v. Douglass*, 123 Idaho 808, 816, 853 P.2d 553, 561 (1993). Waiver is distinguishable from judicial estoppel. *Id.* "Judicial estoppel precludes a party from advantageously taking one position, then subsequently seeking a second position that is incompatible with the first." *Hoagland v. Ada Cty.*, 154 Idaho 900, 912, 303 P.3d 587, 599 (2013) (citation omitted) (applying judicial estoppel in an appeal to bar appellant from arguing that she was entitled to recover under a theory she informed the district court that she was not seeking recovery under).<sup>15</sup> "Substantive issues will not be considered the first time on appeal."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> See also R. 819 wherein EEF says: "Idaho Code §45-1205 provides the **statutory basis** for Plaintiff's negligence claim. Additionally, Plaintiff believes that common law negligence does apply and intents [sic "intends"] on moving the court for leave to amend its complaint to further clarify what Plaintiff believe are exceptions to the economic loss rule." (Emphasis added.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> TitleOne also notes and incorporates from the record on appeal as argument on this appeal that it had argued unsuccessfully to the district court that I.C. § 45-1201, *et seq.* provides the exclusive remedy for negligent reconveyance. R. at 916, 936, and 950. This argument, if accepted, would provide an independent ground to uphold the district court's decisions to dismiss the common law negligence count and not to allow that argument back in by way of a

*Crowley v. Critchfield*, 145 Idaho 509, 512, 181 P.3d 435, 438 (2007). Therefore, "[a] litigant may not remain silent as to claimed error during a trial and later urge his objections thereto for the first time on appeal." *Hoppe v. McDonald*, 103 Idaho 33, 35, 644 P.2d 355, 357 (1982).

In this case, EEF voluntarily relinquished its right to pursue a common negligence claim against TitleOne by conceding that the claim was barred by the economic loss doctrine. The record establishes that EEF voluntarily and knowingly stated that TitleOne's arguments with respect to the economic loss doctrine were likely correct and did not correct the district court's conclusion that EFF conceded the issue. This amounts to waiver of the claim. In addition, EEF's briefing and argument before the district court appears to establish that EEF was only seeking to recover on TitleOne's alleged negligence under I.C. § 45-1205, thereby implicitly abandoning its argument on common law negligence claim and representing to the district court that the case was moving forward solely on the duty created by I.C. § 45-1205. This Court should not permit to EEF to now change its position on appeal and assert that its common law negligence claims was improperly denied.

Lastly, as a practical matter, EEF's common law negligence claim was not actually litigated below; instead, it was essentially voluntarily dismissed. Thus, EEF should not be permitted to raise the issue now on appeal because the district court did not rule on the merits of EEF's common law negligence claim or TitleOne's defenses thereon, namely the application of

later amendment. TitleOne has listed exclusivity of the forced reconveyance statutes as an additional issue in this appeal.

the economic loss doctrine. For these reasons, this Court should not address any of EFF's argument on appeal that the district court erred in applying the economic loss doctrine.

# ii. The Economic Loss Rule Applies to Damages for Loss of Equity or Security.

In Clark v. International Harvester Co., 99 Idaho 326, 581 P.2d 784 (1978), the court

adopted the following summary by Dean Prosser regarding the economic loss rule:

Certain types of interests, because of the various difficulties which they present, have been afforded relatively little protection at the hands of the law against negligent invasions. Thus interests of a pecuniary nature, such as the right to have a contract performed, *the expectation of financial advantage*, or the integrity of the pocketbook which may be damaged by reliance upon a representation, all present special problems . . . In general, however, it may be said that the law gives protection against negligent acts *to the interest in security of the person, and all interests in tangible property*. In other words, negligence may result in liability for personal injury or property damage.

99 Idaho at 469, 583 P.2d 1004 (emphasis added).<sup>16</sup> Courts have held that a claimed loss of equity is indeed an economic loss and dismissed common law negligence claims on this basis. *See e.g., Schaefer v. Indymac Mortgage Services*, 2012 WL 4929094, at \*1-2 (D.N.H. October 16, 2012)(claim that loss of home of 28 years and any equity therein to wrongful *foreclosure* "is economic--the loss of his property and the equity he held in his property."); *First Internet Bank of Indiana v. Lawyers Title Insurance Co.*, 2009 WL 2092782, at \*1 (S.D. Ind. July 13, 2009)(where claim was improper execution of escrow instructions prevented lender from being

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Accord Aardema v. U.S. Dairy Sys., Inc., 147 Idaho 785, 790, 215 P.3d 505, 510 (2009) ("Generally, a plaintiff may not recover in tort where the sole allegation is that the defendant prevented the plaintiff from gaining a purely economic advantage.") (citing Just's, Inc. v. Arrington Const. Co., Inc., 99 Idaho 462, 468, 583 P.2d 997, 1003 (1978)) and ("Economic loss has been defined as, but not limited to, . . . commercial loss for inadequate value and consequent loss of profits or use.") Id. (quoting Salmon Rivers Sportsman Camps, Inc. v. Cessna Aircraft Co., 97 Idaho 348, 351, 544 P.2d 306, 309 (1975) (rev'd on other grounds )).

in first position and thereby damaged its equity, "[t]he improper loan closing damaged the security interest, but this damage falls squarely within the economic loss doctrine, is covered by the contract, and is not recoverable in a tort action.").

# iii. No Exceptions to the Economic Loss Rule Were Argued Below and Thus May Not be Raised on Appeal.

The district court noted that "neither party has discussed or argued any of the exceptions to the economic loss rule." R. at 535. "Issues not raised below and presented for the first time on appeal will not be considered for review." *Frontier Dev. Grp., LLC v. Caravella*, 157 Idaho 589, 595, 338 P.3d 1193, 1199 (2014) (citations omitted). However, even if the issue of special exceptions to the rule is reachable on appeal—which it is not—then this argument fails as well.

The "special relationship" exception generally pertains to claims for personal services provided by professionals, such as physicians, attorneys, architects, engineers, and insurance agents. *Eliopulos v. Knox*, 123 Idaho 400, 408, 848 P.2d 984, 992 (Ct.App. 1992). A special relationship may exist where a party holds itself out to the public as performing a specialized function and induces reliance on superior knowledge and skill. *Duffin v. Idaho Crop Improvement Assn.*, 126 Idaho 1002, 1008, 895 P.2d 1195, 1201 (1995). A statutory trustee is different from those parties, in that such a person or entity's entire relationship is defined by statutes and precisely what duties they agree to assume and is not fiduciary in nature. As U.S. District Judge Lynn B. Winmill stated:

Under Idaho law, the duties of a trustee on a deed trust have only been recognized as those specified under either in the Idaho Trust Deeds Act or in the deed of trust document itself. *See Davis v. Keybank Nat'l Assoc.*, 2005 WL 2847239, 2-3 & n. 5 (D. Idaho October 26, 2005) (Construing deed of trust trustee's duty under the

Deeds Trust Act, and noting that Idaho courts had not determined duty to be fiduciary in nature.); *Diamond v. Sandpoint Title Ins., Inc.,* 132 Idaho 145, 968 P.2d 240, 246 (Idaho 1998) (Noting that the Idaho courts have not recognized that the duties of a trustee under a deed of trust are fiduciary in nature.).

Sykes v. Mortgage Electronic Registration Sys., Inc., 2012 WL 914922, \*4 (D. Idaho 2012).

With respect to the forced reconveyance of a deed of trust, the Legislature has granted title insurers and title agents, who are not even the trustee listed in the deed of trust at issue, the power to reconvey. Such individuals likely have never even met, communicated with, or had any interaction with the beneficiaries of those deeds of trust being reconveyed. Additionally, such individuals are acting solely based on statutory authority and are not even the trustee named in the deed of trust at issue. Accordingly, the close, special relationship from which a duty can arise to create an exception to the economic loss doctrine is simply not present in the statutorily created and defined forced reconveyance context. EEF's proposal that "a special relationship exists between title companies and any holder of a deed of trust" would create an exception without any relationship, thereby eviscerating the special relationship exception.

## G. TitleOne is Entitled to its Costs and Attorney Fees on Appeal.

For the reasons discussed above, TitleOne is the prevailing party in this appeal and is entitled to costs pursuant to I.A.R. 40 and attorney fees pursuant to I.C. §§ 12-121 and 120(3).

## i. TitleOne is Entitled to its Fees on Appeal Under I.C. § 12-121 Because EEF Pursued this Appeal Frivolously, Unreasonably, or Without Foundation.

Reasonable attorney fees may be awarded to the prevailing party pursuant to I.C. § 12-121. *Teurlings v. Larson*, 156 Idaho 65, 75, 320 P.3d 1224, 1234 (2014). An "award of attorney fees under Idaho Code § 12-121 is not a matter of right to the prevailing party, but is appropriate

only when the court, in its discretion, is left with the abiding belief that the case was brought, pursued, or defended frivolously, unreasonably, or without foundation." *Id.* at 75–76, 320 P.3d at 1234–35 (citation omitted). "Idaho Code section 12-121 permits a court to apportion and award reasonable attorney fees for claims that are brought or defended unreasonably, frivolously, or without adequate foundation in fact or law." *Baird-Sallaz v. Sallaz*, 157 Idaho 342, 347, 336 P.3d 275, 280 (2014) (citation omitted). An appeal from a well reasoned decision of a district court without adding any new analysis of or authority to the issues raised below may be frivolous and unreasonable. *See Castrigno v. McQuade*, 141 Idaho 93, 98, 106 P.3d 419, 424 (2005).

In this case, failure to offer competent evidence of damages is the only basis upon which EEF's remaining claims against TitleOne were dismissed. R. at 3061. This should not have been a surprise to EEF, who throughout the underlying case ignored its burden to establish damages. EEF even ignored its burden after an express reminder from the district court that it was neglecting its burden to offer evidence of damages. *See Supra* p. 13<sup>17</sup> (establishing that the district court warned EEF of its need to offer evidence of damages, and EEF willfully refusing to do so because any attempt would be speculative).

Thus, despite knowingly failing to meet its burden on a requisite element of its claims, EEF still unsuccessfully pursued claims against TitleOne. R. at 3052–53. Now, with no new evidence, EEF has appealed to this Court arguing that it sufficiently met its burden to establish

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Tr. at 248 (court indicating to defense counsel in setting expert disclosure deadline "I think it would seem to be significant to try and sort out what kind of damages are claimed and are at stake and whether they're recoverable and all of that.").

damages with reasonable certainly below (Appellant's Br. p. 8–12), yet EEF conceded below that establishing damages would be only speculation and was not possible.

Pursuit of this appeal with no new evidence or arguments related to damages, after the district court warned EEF of that it was not meeting its burden to offer evidence of damages, is frivolous and unreasonable. Furthermore, the bulk of EEF's appeal argues non-dispositive issues; namely the applicable statute of limitations (a frivolous argument in light of one hundred years of contrary authority on I.C. § 5-204) and the application of the economic loss doctrine (which is not ripe for appeal and was conceded by EEF below). For these reasons, an award of costs and attorney fees on appeal is proper under I.C. § 12-121.

# ii. TitleOne is Entitled to Its Fees on Appeal Under I.C. § 12-120(3) because This Case Arises From a Commercial Transaction That is the Gravamen of EEF's Lawsuit.

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